Effective Interventions Unit

EVALUATION OF THE PROVISION OF SINGLE USE CITRIC ACID SACHETS TO INJECTING DRUG USERS

Jennifer Garden, Kay Roberts, Avril Taylor, David Robinson





Scottish Centre for Infection and Environmental Health



January 2003

CONTENTS

Ab	ostract	i		
1.	Background	1		
	Introduction	1		
	Harm Reduction: The Role of the Needle Exchange	2		
	Provision of Single Use Citric Acid Sachets	4		
2.	Methodology	6		
	Aims & Objectives	6		
	Project Management	6		
	Sampling Strategy	6		
	Data Collection	7		
	Data Analysis	7		
3.	Results	8		
	Study Group Characteristics	8		
	Drug Use and Injecting Habits	9		
	Use of Needle Exchanges	11		
	Use of Acidifiers	12		
	Use of the Single Use Citric Acid Sachets	15		
	User Preferences & Recommendations	18		
4.	Conclusion & Recommendations	20		
References				
Αp	pendices			

Researcher: Jennifer Garden

Grantholders: Kay Roberts, Avril Taylor, David Robinson

ABSTRACT

Three hundred and sixty injecting drug users (IDUs) took part in a survey to assess the acceptance, effectiveness and efficiency of the provision of single use citric acid sachets to IDUs in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire.

Overall, the introduction of the single use citric acid sachets has been very successful and well received by IDUs. The current provision of 100mg of citric acid in each sachet is sufficient for almost all users' needs and most IDUs reported both using and preferring to use the sachets rather than other acidifiers. Moreover, most IDUs seem to be aware that the single use citric acid sachets are a safer option for dissolving their drugs than most alternative acidifiers.

However, there is a need to further educate users on the importance of not sharing any of their injecting equipment and paraphemalia, including the citric acid sachets. Furthermore, the data suggests that some IDUs continue to reuse their needles. It is vital that these IDUs are encouraged to use a clean needle each time and to return to the needle exchange more often. The provision of the single use citric acid sachets appears to have had a positive impact on the number of visits being made by IDUs to the needle exchanges. The provision of further injecting paraphemalia such as single use sachets of Vitamin C, Stericups and sterile water may also lead to a further increase in visits.

This report recommends that the provision of the single use citric acid sachets be extended across the UK.

CHAPTER 1 BACKGROUND

Introduction

Recent estimates suggest that 2% of 15-54 year olds in Scotland misuse drugs. In the year 2000, there were 22,795 known drug users and an estimated 55,800 drug users in all. In Greater Glasgow, the prevalence of problematic drug use was reported to be slightly higher at 3.1% of 15-54 year olds, with 7248 known drug users and an estimated 15,975 drug users in total in 2000. In Lanarkshire the prevalence of drug misuse was reported to be slightly lower at 1.6% of 15-54 year olds, with 1828 known drug users and an estimated 5076 drug users in total in 2000. Across the whole of Scotland, males consistently account for around 75% of the problem drug using population (Hay, McKeganey & Hutchinson, 2001).

Much of the problematic drug use in Scotland involves drug injecting. In the year 2000, there were known to be 4542 injecting drug users (IDUs) with an estimated 22,805 in total (0.8% of 15-54 year olds). The prevalence of injecting drug use is higher than the national average in Greater Glasgow, where 1.4% of 15-54 year olds are thought to inject. In 2000, there were 1946 known IDUs and an estimated 7187 IDUs in total in Greater Glasgow. In Lanarkshire, the prevalence of injecting drug use has been reported to be slightly lower at 0.7% of 15-54 year olds. Here, there were 279 known IDUs and an estimated 2369 IDUs in total in the year 2000 (Hay, McKeganey & Hutchinson, 2001).

Table 1.1 Prevalence of drug misuse and drug injecting in 2000

	Probl	em drug us	e 2000	I nj ecting drug use 2000				
NHS Board	Known users	Estimated users	Prevalence (15-54 yr olds)	Known I DUs	Estimated I DUs	Prevalence (15-54 yr olds)		
Greater Glasgow	7,248	15,975	3.1%	1,946	7,187	1.4%		
Lanarkshire	1,828	5,076	1.6%	279	2,369	0.7%		
Scotland	22,975	55,800	2.0%	4,542	22,805	0.8%		

Source: 'Estimating the National and Local Prevalence of Problem Drug Misuse in Scotland: Executive Report' Hay, McKeganey & Hutchinson, 2001.

Injecting drugs is known to increase the risk of overdose, absœsses and infections, vascular problems and blood-borne viruses. Recent estimates suggest that around 34% of IDUs have shared their injecting equipment within the past month (ISD, 2001). Another study has found that a further 27% of IDUs reported that while they had not shared in the previous month, they had shared in the past (Effective Interventions Unit, 2001). When the definition of sharing equipment is extended to include all injecting paraphernalia, the figures are even higher. Galbraith et al (2001) reported that 58% of IDUs reported sharing needles, syringes, spoons, water and swabs in the past. Such sharing of equipment significantly increases the risk of acquiring blood-borne infections such as HIV, Hepatitis C and Hepatitis B

Since the early 1980s, when the infection was first evident in Scotland, the incidence of HIV infected IDUs has steadily declined. Recent estimates suggest that the prevalence throughout Scotland is very low at 1-2% (ISD, 2001). In 2000, there were only 19

diagnosed cases of HIV infected injectors – the lowest annual number ever recorded (ISD, 2001). This decline in cases has been accompanied by a rise in the average age at which HIV is diagnosed and suggests that the few infections that are being reported were contracted in the late 1980s or early 1990s. Recent HIV transmission seems to be a relatively rare occurrence. Such reduction in incidence can be at least partly attributed to the success of harm reduction interventions such as needle exchange and methadone maintenance programmes (Hurley, 1997; Des Jarlais, et al., 1996).

In contrast to the relatively low prevalence of HIV, the prevalence of Hepatitis C among IDUs in Scotland is very high. By December 2001, there were 13,535 known cases of HCV in Scotland (5019 in Greater Glasgow and 774 in Lanarkshire). Of these cases, 60% had injecting drug use as the probable route of transmission (SCIEH, 2002). Moreover, it is likely that a large number of IDUs are among the cases with an "unknown" cause of transmission. Recent estimates suggest that as many as 10,000 IDUs in Scotland have HCV and even this figure is likely to underestimate the true prevalence (Effective Interventions Unit, 2001). In Greater Glasgow, HCV is most prevalent, with estimates that 64% of IDUs have the disease (Goldberg, et al 2001). While treatments for HCV are becoming more successful, prevention undoubtedly remains the key to halting the progression of this disease.

Hepatitis B is less prevalent among IDUs in Scotland than Hepatitis C. In 2000, there were 360 known cases of the virus. Of these, only 89 cases were attributed to injecting drug use, but it is likely that most cases had injecting drug use as the probable route of transmission (ISD, 2001).

Harm Reduction: The Role of the Needle Exchange

Reducing the prevalence of injecting drug use and the spread of associated blood-borne viruses in Scotland is a complex task. The best interventions are based on the principles of harm reduction. Such interventions follow a set of practical strategies that aim to reduce the risks associated with injecting drug use and encourage safer use, which may or may not lead to abstinence.

One such harm reduction approach is to ensure that IDUs have access to clean needles and syringes. Needle exchange programmes recognise that people who inject drugs are at a greater risk of contracting HIV, HBV and HCV and other health problems associated with sharing needles and drug paraphernalia. By providing clean equipment, information and education on risk factors, and by making referrals to drug counselling services, their aim is to reduce the negative consequences associated with injecting drug use.

First established in the UK in the mid 1980s, needle exchanges are an effective method of disease control. By reducing the length of time that each needle spends in the drug injecting population, they ensure that there is less chance of it being contaminated and subsequently reused by another, potentially uninfected, IDU (Drucker, et al, 1998). Their efficacy in reducing sharing behaviour has been well documented (Blumenthal, et al, 2000). Other studies have reported that needle exchanges significantly increase single use of syringes and can reduce the number of injections per syringe by between 44% and 85% (Heimer, et al, 1998; Kipke, et al, 1998).

There is overwhelming evidence to suggest that needle exchanges decrease the prevalence of HIV among IDUs (Hurley, 1997, Des Jarlais, et al, 1996). In fact, all but two of the studies carried out to date have conduded that needle exchanges reduce HIV transmission. Even the two Canadian studies, which concluded that needle exchange

programmes were not sufficient to prevent HIV transmission, conceded that they had a crucial role to play (Strathdee, et al, 1997; Schechter, et al, 1999).

Less research has been carried out to investigate the role of needle exchanges in reducing the transmission of blood-borne viruses other than HIV. However, what evidence there is suggests that needle exchange programmes are also associated with reductions in HCV, HBV and subcutaneous abscesses (Harris, 1997). A study carried out in America reported that IDUs who used a needle exchange were between 6 and 11 times less likely to contract HBV or HCV compared with IDUs who did not use a needle exchange (Hagan, et al, 1995). In another American study, they found that needle exchange programmes were associated with a minimum of a 33% reduction in HBV incidence (Heimer, et al, 1996). Finally, research carried out in Australia found a concurrent decline of 50% in needle sharing behaviour and a decline from 22% to 13% in HCV prevalence among IDUs during a 3 year period (MacDonald, et al, 2000).

Critics of needle exchange programmes have argued that needle exchanges may increase the use of illegal drugs and cause more widespread use. However, extensive research has shown that this is not the case and that needle exchanges can actually reduce drug use through referrals to drug treatment and counselling (Watters, et al, 1994; Heimer & Lopes, 1994; Buning, 1991). Studies have also concluded that needle exchanges do not increase injection frequency among IDUs, the number of initiates to injecting drug use or more widespread drug use (Normand et al, 1995; American Institute of Health, 1997). Moreover, needle exchange programmes do not increase the number of syringes discarded in public places (American Institute of Health, 1997). Indeed, some areas where needle exchanges have been introduced have reported a decrease in the number of discarded syringes (Normand, et al, 1995; Oliver, et al, 1992).

Another argument often cited by critics of needle exchanges is that by giving IDUs access to needles, they may be discouraged from entering drug treatment programmes. Again, extensive research has shown this claim to be untrue. Many IDUs who use needle exchanges ask for referrals to treatment (Heimer & Lopes, 1994, Hagan, et al, 1993, Heimer, et al, 1996). In Australia, researchers found that introducing a needle exchange next to a methadone clinic did not reduce the number of admissions for treatment or result in an increase in dropouts or positive urine tests at the methadone clinic (Wolk, et al, 1990).

In addition to these benefits, needle exchanges also make economical sense, with the cost of running them far below the costs associated with treating or caring for IDUs with blood-borne viruses (Lurie, et al., 1993; Holtgrave & Pinkerton, 1997).

In summary, there is now overwhelming scientific evidence to show that needle exchange programmes reduce the spread of blood-borne viruses without increasing drug use or the number of discarded syringes. In fact, they can actually reduce drug misuse by referring IDUs to treatment programmes. They are also cost effective and serve to improve the lives of IDUs and their families.

In a further bid to reduce the harm associated with injecting drug use, and in an attempt to increase the use of their services, some needle exchanges are now starting to offer IDUs additional injecting paraphernalia such as single use citric acid sachets.

Provision of Single Use Citric Acid Sachets

The majority of IDUs who use needle exchanges in the UK are heroin injectors. While heroin in its purest form is highly water soluble, street heroin in the UK tends to be brown

and is sold in poorly soluble base form (King, 1997). In order to make the heroin base soluble, an acid must be added to convert it into a salt. Acids that can be used to facilitate solubility in this way include citric, ascorbic, acetic and lactic acids. IDUs have tended to use readily available forms of these acids such as commercial brands of processed lemon juice, fresh lemon juice, vinegar and other household products. Although these products are used to promote solubility and thereby reduce the risk of harm caused by injecting particles, they are in fact often a source of harm themselves.

Lemon juice both in its packaged and fresh forms can carry fungal infections, which, when injected, can infect the heart (endocarditis) and cause candidal endopthalmitis, an infection of the eyes that can lead to blindness (Gallo, et al, 1985). At a recent conference of needle exchange workers in the UK, there was a noted increase in reports of blindness among IDUs. These were attributed to candidal endopthalmitis caused by using lemon juice to acidify heroin prior to injection (Preston & Derricott, 2001).

There is limited evidence that using vinegar to dissolve heroin is harmful. However, as with lemon juice, because vinegar is a liquid it is conceivable that it could encourage the growth of bacteria or fungal infections such as candidal endopthalmitis (Lazzarin, et al, 1985).

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) can also be used for the preparation of heroin for injection. Some have argued that it might be safer than citric acid because it allows a greater margin of error: ascorbic acid is less acidic than citric acid and a small increase in the amount used is unlikely to cause vein damage or burn the user. In practice, however, IDUs learn from experience and their peers how much acid to use and persistent over use of citric acid seems to be rare (Preston & Derricott, 2002). Moreover, it is now being suggested that if ascorbic acid is injected in large doses, as occurs in certain medical conditions, it could lead to the formation of kidney stones (Preston & Derricott, 2002). It is unlikely that the amount of ascorbic acid injected by IDUs would be large enough to cause such physical problems, but it nevertheless remains a possibility.

Citric acid is believed to be the safest acidifier to use for the preparation of brown heroin for injection, as it is readily available in pure form, is of consistent strength and complies with the British Pharmacopoeia (BP) standard (Preston & Derricott, 2002). However, supplying citric acid to IDUs remains, in principle at least, illegal by virtue of Section 9A of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971. However, there have been recent calls for a repeal of this law, and to date no one has ever been prosecuted for supplying citric (or ascorbic) acid. This is because prosecution for harm reduction initiatives would not be in the public interest. Despite this, some pharmacists' concerns about the, albeit very low, risks of prosecution had, until recently, made them reluctant to supply it. This had made it very difficult for IDUs to obtain citric acid and had resulted in their use of more dangerous acidifiers.

Acting on behalf of the Greater Glasgow Drug Action Team (DAT), and in a bid to reduce concems and reassure pharmacists, the Regional Procurator Fiscal (RPF) approached the Lord Advocate's department about the supply of citric acid sachets to IDUs. They were advised that under no circumstances would pharmacists supplying citric acid as part of an approved needle exchange programme be prosecuted. The three RPFs responsible for Greater Glasgow NHS Board and Lanarkshire NHS Board areas also provided "letters of comfort" which were forwarded to all pharmacists to further reassure them. There then followed a short pilot study of supplying IDUs attending needle exchanges with 200mg sachets of citric acid. This trial highlighted that while IDUs liked the idea of single use sachets, 200mg was excessive in terms of the amount of citric needed for each injection. Indeed, 100mg of citric acid was found to be more than sufficient to dissolve the £20 worth of heroin usually injected. 100mg is also the smallest amount of citric that can be feasibly packaged in single sachets and is therefore the safest option possible. As a result

of this research, in December 2001 pharmacy exchanges in Greater Glasgow started offering 100mg single use sachets of citric acid to IDUs and, in March 2002, pharmacy and needle exchanges in Lanarkshire followed suit. This provision was introduced with the support of Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire DATs, the Home Office, Strathclyde Police, Greater Glasgow Primary Care Trust and the Royal Pharmaceutical Society in Scotland.

The 100mg single use citric acid sachets provided are manufactured and packed in surroundings that comply with the pharmaceutical industry standards of Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP). The sachets themselves are made from a combination of paper, plastic and aluminium foil, which ensures they remain airtight, water resistant and free from contamination.

As the sachets are designed for single use, they decrease the risk of contamination from sharing between IDUs and encourage hygienic injecting techniques. In addition, it is hoped that providing citric acid sachets in this way will increase both the number of people attending and the number of visits to the needle exchange. Despite these clear benefits, citric acid, like all acidifiers, is not designed for injecting and can lead to vein damage. It is therefore important that the smallest possible amount is used. Text on the exterior of the sachets advises IDUs to use as little citric as possible and to discard whatever remains. Each sachet also carries the warning that injecting citric acid can damage veins. This information and further injecting advice is also offered to IDUs on the small flyer supplied with the sachets and on the box in which the sachets are sometimes supplied to users. (Further information on the sachets, leaflets and information distributed can be found in Appendices C and D.)

While the provision of citric acid sachets in the UK is relatively new, a similar service has been available in some European countries for some time now. There it has increased the use of needle exchange services, reduced the use of more dangerous acidifiers, been popular with IDUs and improved their relationship with needle exchange staff (Preston & Derricott, 2002). A small pilot study carried out by the Hungerford Mobile Exchange Team in London has also produced positive results (Wilkinson, 2002).

The Effective Interventions Unit (Scottish Executive), Greater Glasgow Primary Care NHS Trust and Lanarkshire Primary Care NHS Trust provided the funding necessary to investigate if the provision of citric acid is just as successful in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire.

CHAPTER 2 METHODOLOGY

Aims & Objectives

The study aimed to assess the acceptability, effectiveness and efficiency of the provision of 100mg single use sachets of citric acid to injecting drug users. The objectives were to assess:

- If the amount of citric acid is sufficient to dissolve the amount of heroin used per injection.
- If the provision of one sachet per one needle/syringe is adequate for the needs of injectors.
- The number of citric burns experienced using the sachets.
- If the uptake of needles/syringes from exchanges has increased since the introduction of the sachets.

Project Management

A working group comprising Avril Taylor (Chair in Public Health, University of Paisley), Kay Roberts (Area Pharmacy Specialist – Drug Misuse, Greater Glasgow Primary Care NHS Trust), David Robinson (Project Co-ordinator, Lanarkshire Harm Reduction Team), Brian Rae (Research Manager, Greater Glasgow Primary Care NHS Trust) and Jennifer Garden (Research Officer, Scottish Centre for Infection and Environmental Health) met regularly to ratify the proposed interview schedule and methodology.

Sampling Strategy

Two pharmacy exchanges in Greater Glasgow, two pharmacy exchanges in Lanarkshire and two fixed site needle exchanges in Lanarkshire agreed to take part in the study. These exchanges were invited to participate in the project as they are among the busiest in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire and allowed for a large number of injecting drug users to be approached. Three hundred and sixty injecting drug users who attended these needle exchanges were recruited to the study between August and November 2002. The provision of the single use citric acid sachets began in Greater Glasgow in December 2001 and in Lanarkshire in March 2002. This meant that all the participants would have had the opportunity to use the single use citric acid sachets at the time of being interviewed. One hundred and twenty participants were from the Lanarkshire NHS Board area and 240 were from the Greater Glasgow NHS Board area. This sample represents 10% of all injectors who attended needle exchanges in Lanarkshire in August 2001 and 5% of all contacts to Glasgow pharmacies per month over the period September 2000 to March 2001 (the number of individuals using Glasgow pharmacies is not available).

Potential participants were approached after the needle exchange staff had served them. Interviews were carried out there and then in a quiet corner of the exchange. Each interview took less than ten minutes to complete and was completely anonymous and confidential. All participants were offered a bar of chocolate and a can of juice for taking the time to participate in the study.

Participants were approached using opportunistic sampling until the target sample size was met. Response rates at participating exchanges ranged from 78% to 94%, with the overall response rate being 84%.

Although the sample of 360 is only 5-10% of the IDUs who currently use needle exchange services in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire the demographic characteristics of the sample appear representative of the drug using population in these areas. For example, the ratio of 22% female participants to 78% male compares well with national figures that consistently show that males make up around 75% of IDUs in the UK (Hay, McKeganey & Hutchinson, 2001). The mean age of participants (29.3 years) also compares well with previous studies of IDUs (Hay, McKeganey & Hutchinson 2001; ISD 2001). Further, the vast majority of IDUs in this study reported injecting heroin most frequently, with relatively few injecting cocaine and other drugs. Almost all the IDUs who did inject occaine were resident in Greater Glasgow. As these findings compare well with those of other studies (Hay, McKeganey & Hutchinson, 2001; Roberts 2002), we can be fairly confident that the sample used is as representative as possible of the larger drug using populations in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire.

Data Collection

The data was collected using a structured questionnaire (Appendix B). This schedule was split into two sections of mainly closed-ended questions. The first section asked for information regarding participants' demographic characteristics, drug use, injecting habits and use of needle exchanges. The second section asked participants about their attitudes to and use of the citric acid sachets and other acidifiers.

To ensure all participants would have had the opportunity to use the citric acid sachets provided by the needle exchanges at the time of interview, most questions referred to drug use within the previous three months.

At the end of the interview, participants were asked if there was anything that they thought could be done to encourage them to use the needle exchange more often. All participants also had the opportunity to add any comments on important issues that they felt were not sufficiently covered in the interview. The questionnaires were marked to show the location, date and time of each interview.

Data Analysis

The data gathered was analysed using one-way ANOVAs, t-tests for independent samples, chi-squares and Pearson's product moment correlation.

CHAPTER 3 RESULTS

Study Group Characteristics

Two hundred and eighty men and 80 women ranging in age from 17 to 52 years took part in the study. The mean age of participant was 29.3 years. Two thirds of the participants were recruited in Greater Glasgow and one third in Lanarkshire. The vast majority of the IDUs interviewed lived in their own or partner's home (70%) or a friend or relative's home (29%). These demographic details are presented in full in Table 3.1. (Numbers will vary throughout as not all participants answered every question.)

Table 3.1. Study group characteristics

Characteristic	N (%) Participants
<i>NHS Board</i> Greater Glasgow Lanarkshire	240 (67) 120 (33)
Needle Exchange Pharmacy 1 Pharmacy 2 Pharmacy 3 Pharmacy 4 Pharmacy 5 Pharmacy 6	120 (33) 120 (33) 40 (11) 40 (11) 10 (3) 30 (8)
<i>Sex</i> Ma le Female	280 (78) 80 (22)
Age (years) 16-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 34-39 40+	16 (4) 77 (21) 103 (29) 81 (23) 64 (18) 19 (5)
Living Accommodation Own/partner's home Someone else's home Hostel	252 (70) 107 (29) 1 (1)
Total	360 (100)

Drug Use and Injecting Habits

The age at which the participants in this study first used illicit drugs (of any kind) ranged from 8 years to 38 years, with the mean age of first use being 16.5 years. Almost all the IDUs interviewed (90%) had begun using illicit drugs by 21 years of age. The participants'

drug using careers ranged from 6 months to 36 years, with the mean length of time spent using drugs being 12.9 years. The age at which injecting drug use began ranged from 13 years to 40 years of age, with the mean being 21.4 years of age. Injecting careers ranged from 6 months to 32 years, with the mean participant having spent 7.9 years as an IDU.

Overall, male IDUs were significantly more likely to have started using illicit drugs and injecting illicit drugs at slightly earlier ages than female IDUs. The mean age of initial drug use for male IDUs was 16.0 years, compared with 18.0 years for females ($t^{357} = -3.4$; p<0.001), while the mean age of initial injecting behaviour for male IDUs was 21.0 years, compared with 22.7 years for females ($t^{357} = -2.5$; p<0.02). IDUs in Lanarkshire tended to have begun using illicit drugs at a slightly earlier age (Mean = 15.7 years) than IDUs from Greater Glasgow (Mean = 16.8 years; $t^{357} = 2.3$; p<0.05). However, IDUs from Greater Glasgow tended to have had longer injecting careers (Mean = 8.5 years) compared with IDUs from Lanarkshire (Mean = 6.6 years; $t^{357} = 2.8$; p<0.01). As would be expected, there were positive correlations between the age of participants and the length of time spent using illicit drugs ($t^{359} = 0.8$; p<0.001) and injecting drugs ($t^{359} = 0.6$; p<0.001). In general, older participants had been using and injecting drugs for significantly longer periods of time than younger participants.

Almost all participants (93%) reported heroin to be the drug that they had most frequently injected in the previous three months. Twenty-three participants (6%) reported injecting cocaine most often, while one IDU (<1%) reported injecting crack most often. Virtually all of the IDUs who injected cocaine most frequently were resident in Greater Glasgow (22). All but 5 of the IDUs who had *ever* injected cocaine in the last 3 months were also resident in Greater Glasgow. Clearly, there is a greater cocaine injecting population in Greater Glasgow than there is in Lanarkshire. Few other drugs were reported to have been injected by the participants. (Table 3.2.)

Table 3.2. Drugs injected in previous three months

	N (%) Participants								
Drugs	Most frequently injected in the previous 3 months	Ever injected in the previous 3 months*							
Heroin	336 (93)	340 (94)							
Cocaine	23 (6)	44 (12)							
Heroin & Cocaine together	-	4 (1)							
Crack	1 (1)	1 (<1)							
Temazepam	-	2 (<1)							
Methadone	-	1 (<1)							
Diconal	-	1 (<1)							
Diazepam ("valium")	-	1 (<1)							
Amphetamine ("speed")	-	2 (<1)							

^{*} Participants could cite more than one drug.

Table 3.3 outlines the frequency with which the participants in this study usually inject and the parts of their body into which they inject. The frequency of injecting varied greatly from less than once a day to 9 times a day, with most participants (65%) injecting between 1 and 3 times a day. IDUs who reported injecting 4 times a day or more had been using illicit drugs for significantly longer than participants who injected fewer than 4 times a day (F(4, 354) = 12.3; P(0.001). IDUs who reported that they injected cocaine

more than any other drug also injected significantly more often than other participants ($x^2 = 53.6$; df = 8; p<0.001). None of the IDUs who injected ∞ caine injected fewer than 2-3 times a day.

The parts of the body injected into also varied, with 60% of IDUs injecting into their arms, 38% into their groin and 19% into their legs on a regular basis. "Other" body parts injected into included fingers, hands, wrists and feet. Participants who reported injecting into their arms had been using (M = 11.00 years) and injecting (Mean = 5.9 years) illicit drugs for shorter periods of time than participants who injected into parts of their body other than their arms (Mean = 15.7 years; $t^{357} = -6.5$; p<0.001; Mean = 10.9 years; t^{357} = -8.1; p<0.001). Conversely, participants who reported injecting into their groin had been using (Mean = 16.4 years) and injecting (Mean = 11.5 years) illicit drugs for significantly longer than those who did not inject into their groin (Mean = 10.6 years; t^{357} = 8.3; p<0.001; Mean = 5.6 years; t^{357} = 10.1; p<0.001). This seems to suggest that IDUs only use their groin as an injection site once they feel they are running out of "good" veins on other parts of their body. IDUs from Greater Glasgow were significantly more likely to inject into their groin than IDUs from Lanarkshire ($x^2 = 3.6$, df = 1; p<0.05). Again, this may be because the IDUs from Greater Glasgow tended to have longer injecting careers and may well have run out of available "good" veins in other parts of their body. IDUs who injected into their groin also injected significantly more frequently than participants who did not use this part of their body for injecting ($x^2 = 69.7$; df = 4; p<0.01). It seems that injecting into the groin is associated with heavier and longer term drug misuse.

Table 3.3. Frequency and site of injecting

Injecting behaviour	N (%) Participants
Frequency of injection	
Less than once a day	87 (24)
Once a day	108 (30)
2-3 times a day	127 (35)
4-5 times a day	36 (10)
More often	2 (1)
Body part injected into*	
Arm	217 (60)
Leg	70 (19)
Groin	140 (38)
Other	10 (3)

^{*} Participants could cite more than one site.

Use of Needle Exchanges

The age at which the participants in this study had first used a needle exchange ranged from 15 years to 46 years, with the mean age being 23.6 years. As the mean age of initial injecting behaviour was 21.4 years, this seems to suggest that most users did not use needle exchanges as soon as their injecting career began. The length of time the IDUs had

been using needle exchange services ranged from 6 months to 18 years, with the mean length of time being 5.6 years. The number of years the participants had been using the needle exchange where the survey was carried out ranged from one month to 6 years, with the mean length of time being 1.5 years.

The frequency of the participants' use of the needle exchange where the interviews were carried out varied and is detailed in Table 3.4. Most users reported using the needle exchange between 1 and 3 times a week. There is also evidence that as the IDUs' injecting frequency increases, their use of the needle exchanges increases too ($x^2 = 807.6$; df = 16; p<0.001). IDUs who reported that they injected cocaine more than any other drug used the needle exchange significantly more often than other participants ($x^2 = 44.4$; df = 8; p<0.001). This is undoubtedly because they also inject more frequently than other IDUs. Only three of the IDUs who injected cocaine reported using the needle exchange less than once a week. Similarly, the IDUs who injected into their groin also used the needle exchange services significantly more than other IDUs ($x^2 = 60.3$; df = 4; p<0.001). Again, this is probably because these IDUs inject most frequently.

Table 3.4. Frequency of using current needle exchange

Frequency of using current needle exchange*	N (%) Participants
Less than once a week	93 (26)
Once a week	126 (35)
2-3 times a week	113 (31)
4-5 times a week	27 (8)
More often	1 (<1)

^{*}In the previous three months

The estimated number of needles acquired from the exchanges over the course of the previous three months also varied greatly. The mean estimated number of needles obtained from needle exchanges in the previous three months was 168, but the individual figures reported ranged from 15 to 600. There was a positive association between the number of needles obtained in the previous three months and the frequency of injecting. The IDUs who obtained the greatest number of needles and syringes were also the IDUs who injected most frequently (F(4, 352) = 209.6; p<0.001). Cocaine injectors obtained significantly more needles (Mean = 261) than other IDUs (Mean = 161; $t^{354} = -3.8$; p<0.001). Similarly, IDUs who injected into their groin obtained significantly more needles (Mean = 229) than other participants (Mean = 129; $t^{355} = 8.2$; p<0.001). Unsurprisingly, there was also a relationship between the number of needles obtained and the frequency with which the IDUs used the needle exchanges. The IDUs who used the needle exchange most often also obtained the greatest number of needles (F(4, 352) = 134.9; p<0.001).

Reasons for using a particular needle exchange varied less than the other responses given by the participants. By far the most common reason cited for using a particular exchange (99%) was that is was close to where the IDU lived. Twenty IDUs (6%) also said they used their particular needle exchange because of the availability of the single use citric acid sachets. Six participants (2%) cited friendly staff has having an influence in their decision to use a particular needle exchange, while 5 (1%) reported that the opening hours made it convenient for them to use that exchange.

Table 3.5. Reasons for using current needle exchange

Reason*	N (%) Participants
Close to home	355 (99)
Availability of citric acid sachets	20 (6)
Friendly staff	6 (2)
Convenient opening hours	5 (1)
Other	3 (<1)

^{*} Participants could cite more than one reason

Sixteen IDUs (4%) reported that they had used another needle exchange in addition to the one in which they were interviewed in the previous three months. Ten of these participants had used this other needle exchange less than once a week, with the main reason for using it being because their partner or friend lived nearby or used that exchange. Other reasons for using another needle exchange included convenient opening hours. In particular, one IDU had used another needle exchange as it had been open at night.

Use of Acidifiers

Three hundred and forty (94%) of the IDUs interviewed reported using an acidifier to dissolve their drug of choice before injection. All twenty of the IDUs who did not use an acidifier were cocaine injectors. Of the 340 IDUs who did use an acidifier, almost all (99%) reported that in the previous three months they had usually used the single use sachets of citric acid given out at the needle exchange. (Reasons for choosing to use the single use citric acid sachets will be discussed in the next section "Using the Single Use Citric Acid Sachets".) Three IDUs had usually used packets of citric acid available to buy, while one IDU had used ascorbic acid.

Thirty-eight participants had used another acidifier as an alternative to their usual acidifier within the previous three months. Most of these IDUs had used either a box or packet of citric acid bought from a shop or pharmacy (53%) or processed lemon juice (35%). Finally, the participants were asked to list all the acidifiers they had ever used in their injecting careers. All of the 340 participants who reported that they used an acidifier had used the single use citric acid sachets and the majority (87%) had also used a packet or box of citric acid. Two thirds of the IDUs had tried processed lemon juice and nearly half (44%) had used vinegar to dissolve their drugs at some point in their injecting career. Male IDUs were significantly more likely to have used both processed lemon juice and vinegar than female IDUs ($x^2 = 5.0$; df = 1; p<0.05; $x^2 = 4.5$; df = 1; p<0.05). IDUs who reported injecting more frequently were significantly more likely to have used vinegar as an acidifier than IDUs who injected less frequently ($x^2 = 35.0$; df = 4; p<0.001). Fewer participants had tried fresh lemon juice (20%) and ascorbic acid (15%). Interestingly, significantly more IDUs from Lanarkshire than from Greater Glasgow had tried ascorbic acid as an acidifier ($x^2 = 9.6$; df = 1; p<0.005). A number of participants had also tried using "other" products to dissolve their drugs such as fresh orange juice, diluting orange juice, Irn Bru and Coca-Cola. One IDU admitted to having tried "just about anything with citric on the label". IDUs who injected into their groin had usually tried almost every acidifier. Also, the longer the injecting career of the IDU, the more likely they were to

have tried each of the acidifiers listed. The different acidifiers used by the participants are shown in Table 3.6.

Table 3.6. Acidifiers used by participants

	N (%) Participants								
Acidifier	Most used acidifier in the last three months (N=340)	Other acidifier used in the last three months*	Acidifiers ever used* (N=340)						
Single Use Citric Acid Sachets	336 (99)	4 (11)	340 (100)						
Citric Acid (packet, not from the needle exchange)	3 (1)	20 (53)	295 (87)						
Ascorbic Acid (Vit C)	1 (<1)	-	52 (15)						
Processed Lemon Juice	-	13 (35)	227 (67)						
Fresh Lemon Juice	-	1 (3)	73 (22)						
Vinegar	-	2 (5)	150 (44)						
Sterilising Crystals	-	-	4 (1)						
Kettle Descaler	-	-	1 (<1)						
Other	-	2 (5)	12 (4)						

^{*} Participants could cite more than one acidifier

One hundred and twenty-nine (38%) of the 340 IDUs who reported using an acidifier to dissolve their drugs prior to injecting had experienced some sort of eye problem as a result. The greater the frequency with which the IDUs injected, the more likely they were to have experienced eye problems of some kind ($x^2 = 20.9$; df = 4; p<0.001). In accordance with this finding, IDUs who injected into their groin were significantly more likely to have experienced eye problems than other IDUs ($x^2 = 20.4$; df = 1; p<0.001). Also, those IDUs who had suffered some sort of eye problem had been injecting for significantly longer (Mean = 9.7 years) than IDUs who had not suffered any eye problems (Mean = 6.7 years; $t^{337} = 4.6$; p<0.001).

The most common eye problem experienced was blurred vision with 78 participants (22%) having suffered it. Of these IDUs, the majority (68%) reported that they had used processed lemon juice as an acidifier when they had experienced the blurred vision. Eleven IDUs had used vinegar, while only 4 had used the single use citric acid sachets. Ten participants were unable to recall what acidifier they had used when they had experienced blurred vision. As before, the frequency of injecting was related to experiencing eye problems, with those IDUs who injected more often more likely to have experienced blurred vision ($x^2 = 25.6$; df = 4; p<0.001). Similarly, those IDUs who injected into their groin were more likely to have suffered from blurred vision than IDUs who did not use this part of their body for injecting ($x^2 = 15.7$; df = 1; p<0.001). Once again, those IDUs who reported having suffered from blurred vision after injecting, had been injecting for significantly longer (Mean = 10.14 years) than IDUs who had not suffered from this eye problem (Mean = 7.2 years; $t^{337} = 3.9$; p<0.001).

The next most common eye problem associated with injecting reported by the participants in this study was severe headaches, with 39 (11%) of the IDUs having suffered from them. Once again, processed lemon juic was most frequently reported to be the acidifier associated with this problem, cited by 24 of the 39 IDUs (62%). Vinegar was cited by 11 participants (33%). One IDU reported that fresh lemon juice had led to their having severe headaches, while one IDU could not remember what acidifier they had used when they had suffered a headache.

Eighteen participants (5%) reported experiencing sore eyes following injection. Again, the main cause seems to be processed lemon juice, with 12 participants (67%) citing it as the acidifier used on the occasions they had had sore eyes. Once more, the other acidifiers associated with this problem were fresh lemon juice and vinegar. A few other, more serious eye problems were reported by the participants. These included temporary blindness, cataracts, and a range of "other" problems such as the total loss of an eye, tunnel vision and seeing white spots. A full breakdown of the problems experienced and acidifiers used are shown in Table 3.7.

Table 3.7. Eye problems experienced by participants

	N (%) Participants (N=340)									
A a i difi an usa duub an		Eye problem*								
Acidifier used when experienced eye problem	Blurred vision			Cataracts	Other					
Single Use Citric Acid Sachets	4 (1)	-	-	-	-	1 (<1)				
Citric Acid (packet, not from the exchange)	-	1	- 1 (<1)		1	-				
Ascorbic Acid	-	-	-	-	-	-				
Processed Lemon Juice	53 (15)	24 (7)	12 (3)	1 (<1)	2 (<1)	2 (<1)				
Fresh Lemon Juice	-	1 (<1)	1 (<1)	-	-	-				
Vinegar	11 (3)	13 (3)	1 (<1)	2 (<1)	1 (<1)	2 (<1)				
Unknown	10 (3)	1 (<1)	4 (1)	1 (<1)	-	-				
Total	78 (22)	39 (11)	18 (5)	4 (1)	3 (1)	5 (2)				

^{*}Participants could cite more than one eye problem.

None of the participants reported experiencing eye problems when using ascorbic acid. As this acidifier is less acidic than citric acid, it may be that it is associated with fewer eye problems. However, with only 52 of the IDUs in this study having ever used it, and only one having used it in the previous three months, it is impossible to conclude from this study if it is any safer to use than citric acid. It is clear though that using either ascorbic acid or citric acid to dissolve drugs prior to injection decreases the risk of subsequent eye problems.

Use of the Single Use Citric Acid Sachets

All of the 340 IDUs who used an acidifier to dissolve their drugs prior to injecting, were aware of the provision of the single use citric acid sachets and had tried them. Indeed, the

vast majority (99%) reported that they usually used the single use sachets instead of other acidifiers; that they used the sachets "every time" (299, 89%) or "most of the time" (30, 9%) they had injected in the previous three months. Two participants (<1%) reported using the sachets about half the time they injected, while 4 participants (1%) reported using them only occasionally.

The date when the IDUs had first used the single use sachets varied depending on whether they were resident in Greater Glasgow or Lanarkshire. One hundred and ninety-seven (90%) of the 220 IDUs interviewed in Greater Glasgow had started using the sachets when the provision began there in December 2001, while 119 (99%) of the 120 IDUs interviewed in Lanarkshire had first started using the sachets when the provision began there in March 2002. The remainder of the IDUs had started using them in the months following initial provision. Therefore, almost all of the IDUs (323, 96%) had been using the sachets for at least 6 months at the time of being interviewed.

The most common reason cited by the participants for choosing to use the single use citric acid sachets was that it dissolved the drugs easily (292, 86%). Nearly two thirds of the IDUs interviewed (214, 63%) also cited safety as a reason for using the single use citric acid sachets. IDUs who injected less frequently and IDUs who did not inject into their groin were more likely to cite safety as a reason for using the single use sachets than other participants ($x^2 = 15.4$; df = 4; p<0.01; $x^2 = 18.1$; df = 1; p<0.001). Also, those IDUs who did cite safety as a reason for using the single use citric acid sachets had been injecting for significantly less time (Mean = 7.3 years) than those IDUs who did not (Mean = 8.8 years; $t^{337} = -2.2$; p<0.05).

Only a few participants reported using the single use citric acid sachets because they are readily available (48, 14%) or because they are easy to use (7, 2%), and only 1 participant reported using them because they are free (<1%). It seems that for most IDUs the single use citric acid sachets are an attractive option for injecting purposes because they are effective dissolvers and are known to be a safer option than most of the other acidifiers available. A few IDUs also chose to use the single use citric acid sachets because they do not have the drawbacks associated with using alternative acidifiers – such as the smell caused by using vinegar or lemon juice. Twelve participants (4%) also cited using the single use citric acid sachets because they were unsure of what other alternatives were available to them:

That's all I know to use. (20 year old male, Lanarkshire)
Only thing I know. (22 year old female, Lanarkshire)
Didn't know you could use anything else. (33yr old male, Greater Glasgow)
Don't know what else to use. (28 year old female, Greater Glasgow)
It's all I've ever known to use. (26 year old male, Lanarkshire)

All of these participants had been injecting drugs for 2 years or less. This is encouraging and suggests that by providing the citric acid sachets, new IDUs are not choosing to experiment with other, less safe acidifiers. Moreover, the message that citric is best seems to be being passed on from user to user. Seven participants (2%) reported that they had been using the citric acid sachets following the advice of a friend or partner:

Shown by my girlfriend to use it. (28 year old male, Lanarkshire)

Everyone else uses it. (39 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Told by other people to use it. (28 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Shown to use it by my mate. (18 year old male, Lanarkshire)

Because that's what you're told to use. (24 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

That's what I learnt from my mates. (35 year old male, Greater Glasgow) Seen others using it. (24 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Almost all the IDUs interviewed (335, 99%) reported that they usually used no more than 1 sachet per injecting episode. Two hundred and three participants (60%) used 1 sachet per injection, 55 (16%) used three-quarters of a sachet, 74 (22%) used half a sachet, and 3 (1%) used less than half a sachet per injection. Two participants (<1%) reported using approximately 1.5 sachets per injection and 3 (1%) reported using 2 sachets per injection. These findings are very encouraging and suggest that the current provision of 100mg in the citric acid sachets is sufficient for most users' needs. The more frequently the IDUs injected, the more citric they used per injection ($x^2 = 51.6$; df = 20; p<0.001). Male IDUs reported using significantly greater amounts of the citric acid than female IDUs ($x^2 = 9.8$; df = 1; p<0.1). IDUs who reported injecting into their groin used significantly more citric per injection than other IDUs ($x^2 = 36.3$; df = 5, p<0.001).

Virtually all of the IDUs interviewed (323, 95%) reported that they usually injected £10 worth of heroin each time (100mg). Six IDUs (2%) reported that they injected £5 worth (50mg) of heroin each time and seven IDUs (2%) injected £20 worth (200mg) each time. One participant reported injecting a "quarter gram" of heroin and another reported injecting "a half gram" of heroin each time.

One hundred and thirteen participants (33%) reported getting at least 1 citric burn while using the single use citric acid sachets in the previous three months. The number of burns estimated to have been experienced by these users ranged from 1 to 100, with the mean number of burns being three. Fifteen IDUs (4%) were unable to estimate the number of burns they had experienced over the previous three months as they reported that they got them every time they injected. Three IDUs (1%) reported experiencing a burning sensation as they injected, but they did not get actual burns as a result of using the single use citric acid sachets. IDUs who reported injecting into their groin (notably, often in addition to other sites on their bodies) suffered from significantly fewer burns in the previous three months (Mean = 2) than IDUs who only used parts of the body other than the groin for injection (Mean = 4; $t^{322} = -2.0$; p < 0.05).

The majority of participants (275, 81%) felt that the number of burns they experienced when using the single use citric acid sachets did not differ from the number they had experienced using other acidifiers. Thirty-seven participants (11%) perceived they had experienced "slightly more" burns when using the single use citric acid sachets compared with using other acidifiers, while 15 participants (4%) perceived they had experienced "a lot more" burns when using the single use citric acid sachets compared with using other acidifiers. Thirteen participants (4%) perceived they had experienced "slightly less" burns when using the single use citric acid sachets compared with using other acidifiers. A few of those participants reported that they had experienced more burns when they had used vinegar to dissolve their drugs prior to injection.

It would appear that using the single use citric acid sachets does not cause IDUs to experience more citric burns than they would with other acidifiers. It is important, however, to continue to stress to all IDUs to use as little citric acid as possible to keep the risk of burns as low as possible.

Relatively few of the participants (48, 14%) reported that they had experienced abscesses when they had used the citric acid sachets in the previous three months. Of those participants who did experience abscesses, the number suffered ranged from 1 to 20 with the mean number being 3. The individual who had suffered 20 abscesses commented that they had always suffered from them and that, in their opinion, it was not related to their drug misuse. It seems that abscesses are less common among IDUs than citric burns and

their occurrence does not seem to be related to using the single use citric acid sachets. Indeed 96% of the IDUs reported that they perceived no difference in the number of abscesses which occurred when they used the citric acid sachets compared with using other acidifiers.

While these findings are generally positive and suggest that the single use citric acid sachets are a popular and relatively safe acidifier to use for the purposes of injecting drugs, a few IDUs indicated that they either did not like or understand the idea of the sachets being for single use only. In particular, a few of the IDUs who used less than the full sachet per injection, reported saving the remainder for later or sharing it with their partner. One participant remarked that when she got her ten sachets home she emptied them all into a container for her and her husband to share. By and large, however, the vast majority of the IDUs interviewed indicated that they liked using the single use sachets and understood their benefits.

Despite the majority of participants using and liking the single use citric acid sachets, 109 participants (32%) reported that they ran out of them prior to their next visit to the needle exchange. As the single use sachets are provided one per one needle, it would appear that many IDUs are continuing to reuse their needles or borrow from others rather than use a clean one each time. This hypothesis is reinforced by comments made by a number of participants who suggested that they would prefer it if they could obtain the sachets without having to take needles at the same time:

Would like to be able to get the citric without having to get needles all the time. (35 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Give out the citric acid sachets on their own. (31 year old male, Lanarkshire)

Sometimes I give back clean needles just to get more citric. (31 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

We just want the citric. I've got about 100 spare needles in the house. (39 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Would be good if you could get them without always taking needles. (25 year old male, Lanarkshire)

That some IDUs continue to reuse needles is clearly concerning and the findings have already been reported to the manufacturers of the single use citric acid sachets. As a result, they have now agreed to incorporate the additional message of using a clean needle each time as well as a new sachet of citric on the leaflets, boxes and sachets supplied to IDUs.

When they did run out of the single use citric acid sachets, the IDUs concerned used a number of alternative acidifiers. Sixty-two IDUs (17%) reported that they used someone else's single use citric acid sachets, 59 IDUs (16%) reported using their own box or packet of citric acid, and 24 IDUs (7%) reported using someone else's box or packet of citric acid. Eleven participants (3%) reported using processed lemon juice when they ran out of the single use citric acid sachets, while 2 participants (<1%) reported using fresh lemon juice.

Unsurprisingly, the 109 participants (32%) who reported running out of single use citric acid sachets prior to their next visit to the needle exchange also reported that they felt the current provision of one sachet per one needle was inadequate for their injecting needs. Eighty-six participants (24%) felt that 2 sachets per needle would be better, 14 (4%) would prefer 3 sachets per needle, and 2 participants (1%) wanted 4 sachets per needle. Clearly, if needle exchanges were to give in to these IDUs' requests, they would be encouraging the reuse of needles. Instead, there is a need for persuading these IDUs to

simply return to the needle exchange as soon as they start running low on needles and citric acid sachets.

User Preferences & Recommendations

Most participants' reported that their preferred acidifier is the single use citric acid sachets. That is, if they had a free choice of all the possible acidifiers (regardless of whether they are currently available or not), 304 participants (90%) would use the single use citric acid sachets. The reasons for this choice were the same as before — because the single use citric acid sachets dissolve the drugs easily and because they are relatively safe to use.

Twenty-four participants (7%) reported that they would prefer to use ascorbic acid to any other acidifiers. In addition to finding this acidifier an efficient dissolver of drugs, and safe to use, all 24 participants reported that they found it caused less pain and fewer burns when they injected with it. Indeed, a number of participants (in addition to those who reported a preference for using ascorbic acid) commented that they would prefer it if they felt less burning when they injected with the single use citric acid sachets:

The citric feels really burny. (20 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Prefer it if it burnt less. (32 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Prefer it if it didn't burn so much. (30 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Make them less burny. (33 year old male, Lanarkshire)

Make it weaker, then it would burn less. (25 year old male, Lanarkshire)

Would prefer it less burny. (29 year old male, Lanarkshire)

Seven of the IDUs who would prefer to use ascorbic acid also felt that it was a healthy option. Eleven participants (3%) reported that they would prefer to use the box or packet of citric acid. Most of these participants reported that they found the citric in the box easier to use than the single use sachets. One participant (<1%) reported that she would prefer to use fresh lemon juice but added that while she found it less painful to inject with, she did not use it as she was aware of the health risks associated with using it.

Finally, the participants were invited to make general comments or suggestions for improvements to the needle exchange service available to them. A few suggestions for improvements were made such as requests for the provision of more needles, more information about drug treatment and safer injecting techniques, greater privacy in the needle exchange and improved accessibility. Some of these suggestions are listed below:

More syringes when you don't return used ones. (22 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Would be good if they could give out more citric and needles on weekends and holidays. (27 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Would be better if they gave out more needles at the weekend. (28 year old female, Lanarkshire)

More needles every time. (30 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Would be better if they gave out more stuff like tourniquets. (23 year old male, Lanarkshire)

More leaflets about safer injecting. (31 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

More information about injecting safely and HepB etc. (25 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

More help to get treatment. More information. More trained staff in drug abuse to help us get off it quicker. (24 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Improve the privacy within the pharmacy. (38 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Better privacy. (42 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

More private area – can be embarrassing – everyone can see you are an addict. (37 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Open more days. (35 year old male, Lanarkshire)

Opening times – Sunday opening would be good. (36 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

For the most part, however, the comments were mostly very positive.

Everything is great. (38 year old male, Greater Glasgow) Quite content. Good staff. (46 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Happy with the way things are. (30 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Everything is brand new. (31 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

It's great the way it is. (37 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

Everything is brilliant. (38 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

The staff are really friendly. Everything is brand new. (26 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

I think it is great here, brilliant. (19 year old female, Lanarkshire)

This is one of the best needle exchanges. Nice people. (52 year old male, Lanarkshire)

It's a great chemist. (23 year old male, Greater Glasgow)

It's really good here. (22 year old female, Greater Glasgow)

Everyone here [in the needle exchange] is great. It's really good what they do – giving out all this stuff for free. (21 year old male, Lanarkshire)

I think it's great what they're doing — great that they're helping us. (26 year old male, Lanarkshire)

It certainly seems that most IDUs fully appreciate the provisions and service available to them at the needle exchange. More importantly, however, has the provision of the single use citric acid sachets actually led to an increase in the number of visits IDUs are making to the needle exchange? As the sachets have only been provided since December 2001 in Greater Glasgow and March 2002 in Lanarkshire, it is difficult to yet gauge the full extent of any impact on the number of visits being made to needle exchanges. The data available shows that while the number of client visits vary from month to month, there has been a general increase in the number of visits being made to needle exchanges in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire since the single use citric acid sachets were introduced. At one Lanarkshire exchange, the number of visits being made by IDUs, and in particular male IDUs, to the needle exchange has increased from 100 during the period of January to March 2002, to 132 during April to June 2002, and most recently 158 during July to September 2002. Similarly, there have been small but noticeable increases in the number of visits being made by IDUs to an exchange in Motherwell and almost all the other pharmacy exchanges in Lanarkshire and Greater Glasgow over the months following the introduction of the single use citric acid sachets. Anecdotally, it appears that the provision of the sachets has had a positive effect on the frequency with which IDUs have been using the needle exchange services. Though, of course, it is impossible to know for sure if this rise in the number of visits is solely related to the introduction of the single use citric acid sachets or if other factors have been involved.

CHAPTER 4 CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATIONS

The main aim of this study was to assess the acceptance, effectiveness and efficiency of the provision of single use citric acid sachets to IDUs in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire and overall, the findings have been extremely positive.

Firstly, the vast majority of participants in this study reported not only using the single use citric acid sachets, but also preferring them to all other available acidifiers. Moreover, a number of newer IDUs were not even aware that less safe alternative acidifiers exist, suggesting that the provision of the single use sachets is discouraging IDUs from experimenting with other acidifiers. Furthermore, as well as recognising the single use citric sachets to be an effective acidifier, most of the IDUs interviewed recognised the relative safety of using them compared with using other acidifiers and indeed reported that they had chosen to use them because of this.

Secondly, the current provision of 100mg of citric in each sachet seems to be adequate for most users' needs. Almost all participants found that one sachet or less was sufficient to dissolve the amount of heroin they usually injected. However, the reasoning behind the sachets being single use is not understood by all IDUs, with some saving the remainder of their sachet for their next injecting episode or sharing their sachets with their friends or partner. Clearly, there is still some work needed to stress the importance of users not sharing any of their injecting equipment and paraphemalia.

There is also a need to further educate IDUs about the importance of using a clean needle and syringe every time they inject. As a significant number of the participants in this study expressed a preference for the needle exchanges to provide more than one sachet of citric per needle, it is evident that many continue to reuse their needles. Furthermore, some IDUs continue to use less safe acidifiers when they run out of the single use citric acid sachets. It is vital that these IDUs are encouraged to return to the needle exchange as soon as they start to run out of clean needles and sachets. Part of this process should include continuing to educate users about the risks associated with using acidifiers such as processed lemon juice and vinegar.

Indeed, this study has confirmed that processed lemon juice and vinegar are the acidifiers most commonly associated with side effects such as blurred vision, severe headaches and sore eyes. Using the single use citric acid sachets, on the other hand, does not seem to lead to IDUs suffering from such afflictions. However, use of the sachets *can* still lead to citric burns, and although their use does not increase the number of burns in comparison to other acidifiers, it is important to stress that as little as possible is used to minimise any risk.

In addition to offering IDUs a safe method of dissolving their drugs, the provision of single use citric acid sachets seems to have increased the frequency of use of the needle exchanges. This increase in visits not only means IDUs are more likely to be using clean needles but also that they are returning used ones, increasing the public's safety as well as their own.

Given these findings, the following recommendations are made:

- All fixed site needle exchanges and pharmacy exchanges in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire to continue providing the 100mg single use citric acid sachets.
- Extend this provision across the UK.
- Repeal or change in the current law (Section 9A, Misuse of Drugs Act 1971) which
 forbids the supply of drug injecting paraphemalia (other than needles and
 syringes) to drug users. Since this research was carried out the Government has

proposed to amend the misuse of drugs legislation (Section 9A, Misuse of Drugs Act 1971) so that certain articles of drug paraphemalia (including single use citric acid sachets) can be provided to IDUs for the purposes of harm minimisation. This report supports these moves.

• Further educate IDUs on the importance of using a clean needle and syringe each and every time they inject and on the importance of not sharing any of their injecting equipment and paraphemalia.

REFERENCES

Australian National Council on Drugs (2001). <u>Needle and Syringe Programs.</u> ANCD, Canberra

Blumenthal, R. N., A. H. Kral, L. Geee, E. A. Erringer, & B. Edlin (2000). "The effect of syringe exchange use on high-risk injecting drug users: a cohort study." <u>AIDS</u> **14**: 605-611

Buning, E. C. (1991). "Effects of Amsterdam needle exchange and syringe exchange." <u>International Journal of the Addictions</u> **26**:1303-1311

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (1993). <u>The Public Health Impact of Needle</u> Exchange Programs in the United States. University of California, San Fransisco

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (1997). "HIV-prevention bulletin for health-care providers regarding advice to persons who inject illicit drugs." Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 46: 510

Choo, Q. L., et al (1989). "Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome." <u>Science</u> **244**:359-362

Crofts, N., C. K. Aitken, & J. M. Kaldor (1999). "The force of numbers: why hepatitis C is spreading among Australian injecting drug users while HIV is not." <u>Medical Journal of Australia</u> **170** (5): 220-221

Deeks, S. G., M. Smith, M. Holodiny, & J. O. Kahn (1997). "HIV-1 protease inhibitors: a review for clinicians." <u>JAMA</u> **277**: 145-153

Des Jarlais, D. C., et al (1995). "Maintaining low HIV seroprevalence in populations of injecting drug users." Journal of the American Medical Association **274**: 1226-1231

Des Jarlais, D. C., et al (1996). "HIV incidence among injecting drug users in New York City syring-exchange programmes." Lancet **348**: 987-991

Drucker, E., P. Lurie, A. Wodak, & P. Alcabes (1998). "Measuring harm reduction: the effects of needle and syringe exchange programs and methadone maintenance on the ecology of HIV." AIDS 12 (Supp. A): S217-S230

Feachem, R. G. A. (1995). <u>Valuing the Past...Investing in the Future: Evaluation of the National HIV/AIDS Strategy 1993-94 to 1995-96</u>. Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra

Friedman, S. R., et al (1997). "Sociometric risk networks and risks for HIV infection." American Journal of Public Health 87 (8): 1289-1296

Gallo, J., et al (1985). "Fungal endopthalmitis in narcotic abusers." <u>The Medical Journal of Australia</u> **142**: 386-388

Glanz, A., C. Byme, & P. Jackson (1989). "Role of community pharmacies in prevention of AIDS among injecting drug misusers: findings of a survey in England and Wales." <u>British Medical Journal</u> 299: 1076-1079

Goldberg, D., Burns, S. Taylor, A., Cameron, S., Hargreaves, D. & Hutchinson, S. (2001) "Trends in HCV prevalence among injecting drug users in Glasgow and Edinburgh during

the era of needle/syringe exchange." <u>Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases</u> **33** (6): 457-461

Goldstein, A. Clinton supports needle exchanges but not funding. Washington Post. April 21, 1998: A1

Hagan, H., et al (1991). "The incidence of HBV infection and syringe exchange programs." JAMA **266**: 1646-1647

Hagan, H., et al (1993). "An interview study of participants in the Tacoma, Washington, syringe exchange." Addiction 88: 1694-1695

Hagan, H, D. C. Des Jarlais, S. R. Friedman, D. Purchase, & M. J. Alter (1995). "Reduced risk of hepatitis B and hepatitis C among injection drug users in the Tacoma syringe exchange program." <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> **85**: 1531-1537

Harris, L. A. (1997). <u>American Bar Association Report on Endorsing Needle Exchange</u>. August 1997

Hay, G & M. McKeganey (2001). "The attendance pattern of clients at a Scottish needle exchange." Addiction 96 (2): 259-266

Heimer, R. K., & M. Lopes (1994). "Needle exchange in New Haven reduces HIV risks, promotes entry into drug treatment, and does not create new drug injectors." <u>JAMA</u> **271**:1825-1826

Heimer, R. K., et al (1994). "Three years of needle exchange in New Haven: what have we learned?" AlDS and Public Policy Journal 9:59-74

Heimer, R, K. Khoshnood, F. B. Jariwala, B. Duncan, & Y. Harima (1996). "Hepatitis in used syringes: the limits of sensitivity of techniques to detect HBV DNA, HCV RNA, and antibodies to HB core and HCV antigens." <u>Journal of Infectious Diseases</u> **173**: 997-1000

Heimer, R. et al (1998). "Syringe use and reuse: effects of syringe exchange programs in four cities." <u>Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology</u> **18** (Supp. 1): S37-S44

Hellinger, F. K. (1992). "Forecasts of the costs of medical care for persons with HIV: 1992-1995." Inquiry **29**: 356

Holtgrave, D. R., & S. D. Pinkerton (1997). "Updates of cost of illness and quality of life estimates for use in economic evaluations of HIV prevention programs." <u>Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology</u> **16**: 54-62

Hope, V. D., et al (2001). "Prevalence of hepatitis C among injection drug users in England and Wales: is harm reduction working?" <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> **91**: 38-42

Hunter, G. M., et al (2000). "Measuring injecting risk behaviour in the second decade of harm reduction: a survey of injecting drug users in England." <u>Addiction</u> **95**(9): 1351-1361

Hurley, S. F., D. J. Jolley, & J. M. Kaldor (1997). "Effectiveness of needle-exchange programmes for prevention of HIV infection." <u>Lancet</u> **349**: 1797-1800

Hutchinson, S. J., A. Taylor, D. J. Goldberg, & L. Gruer (2000). "Factors associated with injecting risk behaviour among serial community-wide samples of injecting drug users in

Glasgow 1990-94: implications for control and prevention of blood-borne viruses." Addiction 95 (6): 931-940

Imbert, E., C. Aznar., & R. Natar (1999). <u>Lemon, Vinegar, Fungus and "Brown Sugar": A New Challenge for Harm Reduction</u>. Presentation 10th International Conference on the Reduction of Drug Related Harm, Geneva

ISD (2001) <u>Scottish Drugs Misuse Statistics Scotland.</u> Information & Statistics Division. Edinburgh

Kaplan, E. H. (1994). "A method for evaluating needle exchange programmes." <u>Statistics in Medicine</u> **13**: 2179-2187

Kaplan, E. H. (1995). "Probability models of needle exchange." <u>Operations Research</u> **43**: 558-569

King, L. A. (1997). "Drug content of powders and other illicit preparations in the UK." <u>Forensic Science International</u> **85**: 135-147

Kipke, M. D., et al (1998). HIV prevention for adolescent IDUs at a storefront needle exchange program in Hollywood, CA. Presented at 12th World AIDS Conference, Geneva, Swizerland

Law, M. G. (1999). "Modelling the hepatitis C epidemic in Australia." <u>Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</u> **14**: 1100-1107

Lazzarin, A., et al (1985). "Pulmonary candidiasis in a heroin addict: some remarks on its aetiology and pathogenesis." <u>British Journal of Addiction</u> **80**: 103-104

Lindesmith Center (2001). <u>Research Brief: Syringe Access.</u> Drug Policy Foundation, Sacramento

Lurie, P., et al (1993). <u>The Public Health Impact of Needle Exchange Programs in the United States and Abroad.</u> Prepared for the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Washington DC.

Lurie, P., & E. Drucker (1997). "An opportunity lost: HIV infections associated with lack of a national needle-exchange programme in the USA." <u>Lancet</u> **349**: 604-608

Lurie, P., T. S. Jones, & J. Foley (1998). "A sterile syringe for every drug user injection: how many injections take place annually, and how might pharmacists contribute to syringe distribution?" <u>Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology</u> **18** (Supp. 1): S45-S51

MacDonald, M. A., et al (2000). "Hepatitis C virus antibody prevalence among injecting drug users at selected needle and syringe exchange programs in Australia, 1995-1997." Medical Journal Australia 172

National Centre for HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research (2000). <u>HIV/AIDS</u>, <u>Hepatitis Cand Sexually Transmissible Infections in Australia</u>, <u>Annual Surveillance Report 2000</u>. University of New South Wales, Sydney

NIH Consensus Statement on Intervention to Prevent HIV Risk Behaviours (1997).

Normand, J., D. Viahov, & E. Lincoln, eds (1995). <u>Preventing HIV Transmission: Role of Sterile Needles and Bleach</u>. National Academy Press, Washington DC.

Oliver, K. J., S. R. Friedman, H. Maynard, L. Magnuson, & D. C. Des Jarlais (1992). "Impact of a needle exchange program on potentially infectious syringes in public places." <u>Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes</u> **5**: 380

Paone, D. (1997). <u>Presentation at New York Stateside HIV Conference</u>. February 1997

Paone, D., J. Clark, Q. Shi, D. Purchase, & D. C. Des Jarlais (1999). "Syringe exchange in the United States, 1996: a national profile." <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> **89** (1): 43-46

Preston, A. & J. Derricott. (2002). Citric Briefing. <u>Http://www.saferinjecting.org</u>.

Report from the NIH Consensus Development Conference. February 1997.

Remis, R. S., et al (1998). "Enough sterile syringes to prevent HIV transmission among injection drug users in Montreal?" <u>Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology</u> **18** (Supp. 1): S57-S59

Robert, K., Gilmour, R., & M. Johnston. (2002) "Evaluation of introduction of pre-packs at two community pharmacies in Glasgow." Report to Greater Glasgow Primary Care NHS Trust. December 2002

Schecter, M., et al (1999). "Do needle exchange programs increase the spread of HIV infection among drug users?" AIDS **13**(6): F45-F51

SCIEH (2002) Hepatitis C Surveillance in Scotland. Http://www.show.scot.nhs.uk/scieh

Scott, J., et al (2000). "Laboratory study of the effects of citric and ascorbic acids on injections prepared with brown heroin." <u>International Journal of Drug Policy</u> **11** (6): 417-422

Sperling, J., & T. S. Jennings (1997). "Formulary considerations for selection of protease inhibitors." Pharmacy and Therapeutics 229-240

Strathdee, S. A., et al (1997). "Needle exchange is not enough: lessons from the Vancouver injecting drug use study." AIDS **11**:F59-F65

Vogt, R. L., et al (1998). "Hawaii's stateside syringe exchange program." $\underline{\text{American Journal of Public Health}}$ 88: 1403-1404

Watters, J. K., et al (1994). "Syringe and needle exchanges as HIV/AIDS prevention for injection drug users." Journal of the American Medical Association **271**: 115-120

Wilkinson, M. (2001) The Caravan Project: London http://www.saferinjecting.org.

Wolk, J., A. Wodak, J. Guinan, P. Macaskill, & J. M. Simpson (1990). "The effect of a needle and syringe exchange on a methadone maintenance unit." <u>British Journal of Addictions</u> **85**: 1445-1450

APPENDIX A: Information Sheet







Evaluation of the Provision of Single Use Sachets of Citric Acid to Injecting Drug Users

Information Sheet

Background

Street heroin in the UK tends to be brown and is sold in poorly soluble base form. In order to make the heroin soluble, an acid must be added to convert the base into a salt. Acids that can be used to facilitate solubility include citric, ascorbic, acetic and lactic acids. Injecting drug users have tended to use readily available forms of these acids such as processed lemon juice, fresh lemon juice, vinegar and other household products. Although these products are used to promote solubility, they are in fact often a source of harm themselves, and can lead to eye and heart infections.

Due to the known risks associated with using more dangerous acidifiers, 100mg single use sachets of citric acid are now being offered at pharmacy exchanges in Greater Glasgow and Lanarkshire. Citric acid is believed to be the safest acidifier to use for the preparation of brown heroin for injection. It is hoped that providing citric acid sachets in this way will increase both the number of people attending and the number of visits to pharmacy exchanges.

The Effective Interventions Unit (Scottish Executive), Greater Glasgow NHS Board and Lanarkshire NHS Board have provided funding to:

- To assess if the amount of citric acid is sufficient to dissolve the amount of heroin used per injection.
- To assess if the provision of one sachet per one needle/syringe is adequate for the needs of injectors.
- To assess the number of citric burns experienced using the sachets.
- To assess if the uptake of needles/syringes from pharmacies has increased since the introduction of the sachets.

Methodology

Three hundred and sixty injecting drug users who attend pharmacy exchanges will be recruited to the study (120 from Lanarkshire NHS Board and 240 from Greater Glasgow NHS Board) over a three month period. Injectors will be interviewed by a trained researcher using a structured questionnaire. The schedule contains questions on respondents' demographic characteristics, drug injecting habits and use of the citric acid sachets. All interviews will be confidential and anonymous and should last no more than ten minutes. Respondents will be offered a chocolate bar and a can of juice for taking the time to complete the interview.

APPENDIX B: Structured Questionnaire

Needle Exchange: Date of Interview: Time of Interview:





Scottish Centre for Infection and Environmental Health



CITRIC ACID SACHET SURVEY

Δ	BOUT YOU					
1.	Are you male	or female ?				
2.	What are your	initials?				
3.	What is your d	ate of birth?	day	month	year	
4.	In the last 3 m	onths, where ha	ve you liv	ed most of the	time?	
	No fixed abode	er's home specify)	Hostel/ro	e else's home (e.goom rented on a d		tives/friends)
5.	What area of G	Glasgow/Lanarks	shire do y	ou live in?		
6.	What is the first	st part of your po	ostcode?			
7.	What age were	you when you f	irst starte	ed using drugs?	years	
8.	What age were	you when you f	irst starte	ed injecting dru	gs? years	i.
9.		onths, what drug	g you hav	e injected mos	t often? (Do	not read out the
	Heroin Temgesic Diconal Valium LSD	Cocaine Temazepam Palfium Ketamine Sulphate	Temgesic DFs Ecstasy	Cocaine together & Temazepam to (<i>Please specify</i>)	ogether	Crack Methadone Up-Johns MST
10		<u>all</u> the drugs t ot read out the li				
	Heroin Temgesic Diconal Valium LSD	Cocaine Temazepam Palfium Ketamine Sulphate	Temgesic DFs Ecstasy	Cocaine together & Temazepam to (Please specify)	ogether	Crack Methadone Up-Johns MST

11.	In the la all that a		hs, on v	vhich part(s)	of the l	oody have yo	u usually inje	ected? (Tick
	Arm	Leg	Other	(Please spec	ify)			
12.	.In the la	st 3 mont	hs, how	often on ave	erage ha	ave you inject	ted?	
	Less than 4-5 times	onœ a da s/day	У	Once a day More often	l (Plea	2-3 t asespecify)	imes/day 	
/ и	vould nov	v like to a	sk you s	some questio	ns abou	ıt your use of	needle exch	anges.
13.	.When wa	as the firs	t time y	ou came to a	needle	exchange?	year	month
14.	.When wa	as the firs	st time y	ou came to <u>t</u>	<u>his</u> nee	dle exchange	? year	month
15.		ou first sta and syring		ing <u>this</u> needl	e exch	ange, how oft	en did you co	ome for
				Once a week More often		2-3 times/w specify)		
	In the la and syri		hs, how	often have y	ou com	ie to <u>this</u> need	dle exchange	for needles
		once a we /week				2-3 times/w specify)		
17.	-	-			_	or needles an vith "any other		(Do not read
	Close to h	nome staff		Convenient op Anonymity	ening h	•	·	
	In the la		hs, have	e you gone to	any ot	her needle ex	change for n	eedles and
	Yes	No	If No,	go to Questi	on 21.	If Yes, whi	ch one?	·
19.	needles	and syring once a we	ges?	Once a week		e to this othe 2-3 times/w especify)	eek	_
20.						for needles a vith "any other		(Do not read
	Close to h Friendly s Availabili		acid	Convenient of Anonymity Other (<i>Ple</i>		nours <i>cify</i>)		
21.	In the la		hs, app	roximately ho	ow man	y needles/sy	ringes have y	/ou

from this needle exchange from another needle exchange

USING THE CITRIC ACID SACHETS

22.Do you add anything to your drugs to help them dissolve before you inject?

Yes No If No, please go to Question 44.

23.In the last 3 months, what dissolver have you used most often to help your drugs dissolve? (Do not read out the list of options. Tick one box only.)

Processed lemon juice Fresh lemon juice

Sterilising crystals Vinegar

Ascorbic acid Kettle-descaler

Citric acid – from the exchange Citric acid – <u>not</u> from the exchange

Other (Please specify) _____

24. Why do you use this particular product to dissolve your drugs? (Do not read out the list of options. Tick all that apply. Prompt with "any other reason?")

Dissolves drug easily Free/Low cost Readily a vailable

Easy to use Safe to use Other (Please specify) ______

25. In the last 3 months, have you used any other products to dissolve your drugs?

Yes No

If Yes, what dissolver(s) have you used? (Do not read out the list of options. Tick all that apply. Prompt with "anything else?")

Processed lemon juiœ Fresh lemon juiœ

Sterilising crystals Vinegar Ascorbic acid Kettle-descaler

Citric acid – from the exchange Citric acid – not from the exchange

Other (Please specify) ______

26. Have you ever used any of the following products to dissolve your drugs? (Tick all that apply.)

Processed lemon juice Fresh lemon juice

Sterilising crystals Vinegar Ascorbic acid Kettle-descaler

Citric acid – from the exchange Citric acid – not from the exchange

Other (Please specify) _____

27. Have you ever experienced any of the following problems with your eyes after injecting? If you have, what dissolver(s) were you using at the time? (Tick all that apply.)

	Yes	No	Dissolver used									
Conjunctivitis			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Don't know
Sore eyes			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Don't know
Blindness			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Don't know
Blurred vision			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Don't know
Severe headaches			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Don't know
Cataracts			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Don't know
Other			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Don't know
(Please specify)												

If the participant has already reported that they use or have used the citric acid sachets from the needle exchange, go to Question 30.										
28	28.Do you know that you can get citric acid sachets from the needle exchange?									
	Yes N	О	If No, p	olease go	to Quest	ion 42.				
29	P.Have you ev	er used t	he citric	acid sach	ets prov	ided at the n	eedle excl	nange?		
	Yes No									
	If No, can you tell me why you haven't used them?									
	Please go to	Question	1 42.							
	would now lik sed.	ke to ask j	you some	e question	ns about	the citric ac	id sachets	you have		
30).When did yo			ric acid sa	ichets p	rovided by th	ne needle e	exchange?		
	year	m	onth							
31.In the last 3 months, how often have you used the citric acid provided by the needle exchange when injecting?										
	Every time Occasionally		Most of Once or	the time twice		About half th	e time			
32	32.Why have you used the citric acid sachets? (Do not read out the list of options. Tick all that apply. Prompt with "any other reason?")									
	Dissolves dru Easy to use	g easily		e e to use	Read Othe	dilyavailable er (<i>Plea</i> ses	specify)			
33	B.In the last 3 per injection		, on ave	rage how	many s	achets of cit	ric acid ha	ave you used		
	< 1/2	1/2	1	•	l ½	2	2+			
34	34.In the last 3 months, on average how much (insert name of drug most frequently used) have you used per injection?									
	25mg 150mg	•	5 bag her 20 bag he		75mg ¼ g	100mg ⅓ g	(£10 bag h	neroin) 1g		
35	5.In the last using the cit			-			ns have y	ou had when		
36						feel that you ne needle ex		more or less		
	A lot less	Slightly	y less	No differer	nœ	Slightly more	A lot	more		

37.In the last 3 months, using the citric acid sac				ve you had when					
38.Compared with using ot abscesses since using the									
A lot less Slightly le	ess No differer	nœ SI	ightly more	A lot more					
39. Does the number of sac visit?	chets given to you	at the exc	hange last y	ou until your next					
Yes No									
	If No, what dissolver(s) do you use in the meantime? (Do not read out the list of options. Tick all that apply. Prompt with "anything else?")								
Processed lemon juice Sterilising crystals Ascorbic acid Citric acid – not from the e Someone else's citric– not			scaler else's citric- f	rom the exchange)					
40.Do you think that being	given one citric a	cid sachet p	per needle is	enough?					
Yes Unsure	No								
41.Is there anything you would change or improve about the citric acid sachets provided at the needle exchange? 42.If you had a free choice, which dissolver would you prefer to use? (Do not read out the list of options. Tick one box only.)									
Processed lemon juice Sterilising crystals Ascorbic acid Citric acid – from the exch Other (<i>Please specify</i>) _		Fresh lemon juice Vinegar Kettle-descaler Citricacid – <u>not</u> from the exchange							
43.Why would you prefer t that apply. Prompt with "a		e r? (Do not i	read out the lis	at of options. Tick all					
Dissolves drug easily Easy to use	Free/Low cost Safe to use			ify)					
44.1s there anything (else) more often?									
Thank you for taking that i									

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire.

Are there any other comments (good or bad) that you wish to add about any aspect of the service?

APPENDIX C: Citric Acid Leaflet

citric

Using citric sachets

To dissolve brown heroin and crack cocaine for injection, an acid must be added to the mixture.

The acids that are used for this – including citric acid – are not designed for injecting, and can cause vein damage.

To keep vein damage to a minimum it is important to use as little as possible.

We are supplying citric acid sachets because:

- you need to use an acid; and
- other acids such as lemon juice or vinegar can cause serious health problems including eye infections that can lead to blindness.

The sachets are for single use only. Use as little as possible and throw away any that is left over.

If you get pain or redness at an injecting site stop injecting there. Ask your needle exchange, arug service or GP for advice.

Source: Http://www.saferinjecting.org



Safer injecting

Injecting is the most dangerous way to take drugs, the risks include:

- getting hepatitis or HIV from shared equipment:
- I overdose; and
- I damage to skin and veins.

Please think seriously about switching to a less risky way of taking drugs such as smoking.

If you are going to inject:

- I use new sterile injecting equipment every time;
- I don't share **anything** used to prepare drugs,
- I use different injecting sites to help veins recover

Ask your needle exchange or drug service for further advice and information.

APPENDIX D: Citric Acid Sachet



